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Preface




    
A Tribe Lost, somewhere in southern Africa




    
This book is a work of fiction, but it does cover events that happened, if not identically, then certainly similarly. The time period is specific: the 1970’s and 1980’s. It is written for those people involved at the time, mostly white but not exclusively so, who tried first to protect an old order and then tried to make a new order work. It was a time when a country was lost by idealists who believed that change would be necessary, but whose masters were unable to change. The tribe endured a change from one group of political diehards, who remained intractable, causing the death of a nation, to a group of political lightweights, who could only flex their all powerful personal selves and forgot to nurture the baby nation’s needs. It was a question of bottle-feeding from the start; the breast was never an option, so there was no real bond formed. Nevertheless, those tribe members who did remain did so mostly to be part of a new-born nation and help it grow to maturity. They, after all, had an inherited privilege – that of education – so were at the vanguard to help the new-born survive its first years, whilst a larger, more equal force of carers was developed. The tribe cautiously waited out the early muscle flexing of the politicians’ muscles, themselves inexperienced, and indeed the unruly infant began to develop. To their chagrin, towards the end of the 1980’s, once again an event occurred which would lead the politicians to plan an exacting revenge on their own child for its disobedience in failing to give the politicians absolute power. The lost tribe began to die at that time, though they did not realize it at the time. The politicians took absolute power anyway, but quite deviously, fooling many, even lulling the near teenage nation into believing things were improving. Then the politicians moved the goalposts and the tribe did die, slowly at first, but as history has subsequently recorded, the tribe became more or less extinct by the time the nation reached adulthood.





    The characters I have portrayed are themselves fictional, but are at least to some degree, composites of various people I had personal experience of in those times, added to by the experiences of close friends. The stories I have heard through friends of friends also figure in the narrative; indeed, the tribe may not have known all its members individually, but invariably they would all know someone who knew any member, and it is that knowing someone which typifies the tribe. The events I have portrayed, with some licence on occasion, did largely happen, and maybe that reflects the turbulence of the times, good and bad. My sentiments may ultimately betray me, but this story is fictional – or is it? Perhaps, it is not itself part of any folklore of the time, but more a snapshot of those times.




    As history has recorded, the tribe is indeed lost, as almost all of its kind have been in other parts of Africa, and specifically, that new nation, now approaching middle age, has suffered from the excesses of absolute power driving it into those unending pits of despair. To those few of the scattered remaining members of this almost extinct particular tribe: I salute you and assure you that you will be remembered.




    The other characters that make up the story are not men, but elephants. Though the book remains fiction, there is a serious aspect to it; that is, ivory poaching. In a way, I decided that their survival is perhaps more important than the snapshot of the times, and indeed we as the tribe can adapt to another life, an option not available to the elephants. I hope there may be a message there.




    Jay W. Ess, 2020


  




  

    
Chapter 1




    
1985




    
Jasper waited until the plane began its taxi run carrying his latest, hopefully satisfied, customers back to the capital, where they would all be able to catch their connections to Europe and the East. His baby, Osprey Safaris, had built a superb and well-earned reputation for providing fascinating encounters with game, excellent fishing experiences and that hint of danger which clients deemed necessary to fulfil their fantasies. He watched from the baggage shed and saw the usual ritual of the old army Land Rover driving down the runway before the plane’s take-off, to scare off any game, mainly kudu or impala. The airstrip had been carved out of the bush thickets just beside the lake many years ago, at first as a military strip during the region’s birth pangs when the individual countries that made up the Protectorate gained their independence from the Empire. The lake itself was a creation of the Empire, meant as both a conservation area and as a power source for the region by the damming of one of Africa’s greatest rivers. Indeed, it was a massive lake, the world’s biggest reservoir at the time, 140 miles long by 20 miles wide. Jasper sometimes wondered whether anybody could imagine the ecological damage that would happen to the southern African region when the dam broke. The governments must have some sort of crisis plan, he guessed, but who really knew what damage the sudden release of 200 billion tonnes of water would do on its 800 mile rampage to the Indian Ocean.





    
He heard the whine of the plane’s engines building up to a crescendo as it turned onto the runway, and off it went without stopping. The pilot must have had a hot date in town that night and wanted to get back to the capital as early as he could – good luck with that. The plane lifted off and rose quickly into the late afternoon sky above the glistening waters of the lake and swung south towards the capital before landing an hour later in time for those international connections. Jasper turned, striding round the side of the baggage shed towards the parking area, past two Chinese gentlemen in their Mao type suits, clearly suffering a little in the humidity. He thought that was odd; they were clearly waiting for someone, but the normal meeting point would be just inside the tin-roofed “shed” that served as the terminal. He greeted them and asked if he could help, perhaps deliver them to the local town, but they ignored him and hurriedly turned their backs on him. What bad manners, he thought, but then perhaps they did not understand him. Jasper crossed over to where his Land Cruiser was waiting with Henry, his trusted lieutenant in his business. Henry was a Matabele, the minority tribe, and therefore not a favourite of the ruling Shona tribe. He had first met Jasper years ago, in an elite branch of the military, after having been a game guide for a conservation organisation. Jasper spoke to Henry, asking him if he had seen the two Chinese men; Henry nodded and replied rather less complimentarily that they were not Chinese, but Korean. He pointed to the airport’s entrance and Jasper saw a government-plated vehicle swing in, scattering gravel and going straight to the baggage shed where the two Koreans were waiting. The Koreans appeared to berate the driver until an army officer, a brigadier it seemed, stepped out of the Mercedes S 320, at which point everybody was all smiles. Henry commented, almost questioningly, that the brigadier was a Matabele, to no-one in particular. The driver collected their bags and put them in the boot before getting back into the car and then speeding off, no doubt to stay in one of the luxury, air-conditioned hotels in the town. Henry asked if he wanted to go for sundowners in town, as it would be dark in half an hour.





    
Jasper was thinking of their early start tomorrow, and said “No, let’s go home.”





    
Home was a villa, a 240-acre plot in the Charara safari area that he had got a hundred year lease on from the government. The orange sun was turning the sky red and would soon drop below the skyline, bringing that special kind of blackness that you can only experience in Africa. It enveloped you like a cloak, yet was clean, vibrant, and given life by the noises and silences that permeated it. In the gathering gloom the lights had come on at the front of the ‘terminal’, which was in reality a plain agricultural shed, and already moths were playing around the lights. When the night came it would seem as if every insect in the country had come to play in the light. The lake had a large preponderance of small, sardine-like fish called kapenta, which, like krill, were the bottom of the food chain, sustaining not only the other lake fish but also the human population both locally and at large. The local tribes had boats with big, saucer-like nets which were lowered into the black depths on their derricks. Just above the centre of the net a powerful light was shone, and like the insects at the airport lights, the kapenta collected in their thousands, a silvery throbbing mass, before they were literally scooped up and out of the water. The boats were strung out across the lake, and their fishing lights gave the impression of a pearl necklace spread out in a curve.





    
Henry started the Cruiser and drove off towards the main road. He turned right and travelled three and a half miles before heading right again onto the Charara bush road, which led to the fishing camp and the two or three settlements at the very eastern end of the lake. The main, metalled road led from the Kariba Dam wall, the border post, through the town of Kariba, past some black marble workings, then the airport on the right, on past the bush road leading to Jasper’s holding and to an escarpment, about 30 miles away. There, it met the main A1 road between the capital and Chirundu, one of the two border crossing points over the Zambezi to Zambia, the northern neighbour. The lake road met the main road at Makuti on top of the escarpment, the crossroads being marked by a garage and a colonial-style motel called Clouds End. This was also about 30 miles from Chirundu, and so served travellers to and from Zambia and as a watering hole for safaris going into the Zambezi valley or to the lake. The road from the lake to Makuti followed old elephant trails, and it would not be unusual, especially at night, to come across several of these pachyderms strolling along stretches of the road – wonderful for the tourists, but sometimes annoying if you had to follow a lumbering elephant for a half mile or more before they cut off into the bush again. Still, that was part of the deal you made when you came to live in this part of the world, along with the heat, the mosquitos and the tsetse flies. All had to be endured. Sure enough, just a couple of hundred yards from their turn off, Jasper and Henry had to crawl along behind a small group of elephant and, as luck would have it, the four females and one calf turned onto the bush road. Fortunately, they cut off into the bush alongside the track, but Henry kept his distance for a minute to make sure they did not turn back onto the track. It was pitch black now, and occasionally the eyes of animals could be seen as the Land Cruiser rounded bends. Twenty minutes later they turned towards the lake and just past the pineapple farm found the entry to their plot, Osprey Safaris, drawing up to the centre portion of the villa. After the five-day safari down the Zambezi flood plain, Jasper knew Henry would be keen to see his family, so he did not hold him back and Henry quickly disappeared to the cottages just a short way off the villa. Jasper was greeted by his houseboy Francis with a cold beer and told his supper would be ready ‘now now’. This could mean anything from 5 minutes to 30 minutes – it was African time – so Jasper knew he had time to get into the shower and at least begin to feel civilised again. After his shower, Jasper sat on the stoep eating the meal Francis had brought, along with another cold Castle beer, watching the kapenta boat lights strung out across the lake. He could hear the generators on board working, but then other sounds began to take over; there were various chatters of animals, like they were talking to each other, the persistent high pitched buzz of the cicadas, and the odd territorial hippo altercation, usually ending in a rumbling run and a splash as the vanquished one ran into the safety of the lake. Now and then came the almost mournful muted roar of a lonely lion. Jasper himself was feeling a little lonely, missing Sophie, his partner of the past four years. He was close to counting off how many ‘sleeps’ he had left till she returned. Unfortunately, that was still two weeks off.





    
The villa was built some 100 yards from the estimated highest possible lake-line, but the water had not been any nearer than double that distance in the last 10 years. It was a gentle gradient down to the jetty at which Jasper had made a small inlet, a ‘posi’, where his cabin cruiser Osprey lay. The villa was a kind of opened U shape, without the curves, and both wings pointed diagonally towards the lake, wrapping round a generous swimming pool. One wing held three bedrooms, all en-suite (at least shower and toilet), and the other wing had a kitchen, utility room, toilet and office whilst the centre wing had a large split-level lounge and small bar. Close to the kitchen wing Jasper had built the carports, standalone freezer room, and a small room which housed a generator to provide electricity to the villa, mainly for air-conditioning, and half a dozen rondavels in which clients would stay before safaris began. Each rondavel was fairly luxuriously appointed, with their own connected shower and toilets. Mosquito nets were standard around the four poster beds and large overhead fans provided at least a little cooling effect. All meals, which were to a high, home-cooked standard, were served at the villa, with all drinks being included during the client’s stay. Indeed, Osprey was well known for its outstanding wines, mostly South African ones. Behind the villa were several buildings which served as housing for the few families that stayed on the property, employed one way or another. The remainder of the plot was used to grow vegetables and some maize to support the working families and clients alike, with meat and fish either caught or bought in. It was not possible to keep livestock, apart from some poultry, because of the tsetse flies and cattle’s susceptibility to trypanosomiasis, the sleeping sickness, which first weakens then kills cattle and people. It is often called the curse of the African subsistence farmer, but in truth Jasper was glad of the flies’ presence in Charara and the Zambezi valley. The tsetse flies kept the nomadic farmers from cultivating and therefore rapidly shrinking the area for the wildlife. It was a ridiculously small area, considering the size of Africa and the low population densities outside of the cities. In fact, there were now generations of youth who were not interested in farming anyway; but nevertheless, Jasper and the other safari operators would occasionally sabotage the Ministry’s attempts to maintain tsetse fly traps in the valley by burning them.





    
All in all, Osprey Safaris was a superb centre for its activities, both game viewing and fishing on the mighty Zambezi or the lake. For the adventurous, there was a canoeing trip down the river to Mana Pools, with 2-3 nights camping on the riverbanks and an added bonus of moonlight walking safaris at Mana Pools if there was a full moon. Alternatively, there was daylight walking within Charara, and of course a separate four-day fishing trip on the lake to catch the famous tigerfish – though Jasper always thought the river fish were the better prize, despite being smaller than their lake brethren. He considered the lake tiger to be lazy and potbellied, having life too easy, swimming open mouthed through the shoals of kapenta, whereas the river tiger had to be constantly swimming against the river and foraging for its prey, making it a more streamlined fish. His canoeing concession, the last addition to the business, was for a safari from Chirundu to Mana pools, with two or three nights being spent on the riverbank using the luxury mobile overnight camp system. Jasper and Henry had built shower and ablution blocks at the three sites, with 3 thatched ‘A’ frames under which a crew would put up self-contained tents and beds. The Unimog crew would also erect tables and chairs for a cooked meal at night, as well as breakfast in the morning. The clients had to do nothing but eat, drink, have a shower and stare at the panorama of the sky, whist listening to the cacophony of sounds around them. It was not unusual to hear the roar of lions and try to guess how far away they were, or the chittering of jackals and the chattering of hyenas, often likened to laughter. After the canoes left in the morning, the crew would pack up the site into the two cruisers and trailers and move on to the next night’s stop-over site and perform the same operation. When the safari had reached Mana, and if there was a full moon, guided night walks were added on for an extra night in the bush before returning to Charara by the Land Cruisers.





    Jasper used his cabin cruiser for fishing safaris, the first mainstay of his business, around the eastern basin and central part of the lake. There were a couple of bedrooms with bunks below the main deck, but most clients preferred to sleep in the open on the upper deck. The boat captain and another galley boy could look after 6 clients comfortably. As with the canoeing safaris, all meals and drinks were included. Most clients came from overseas and were charged in US dollars. As part of the terms of his concession, Jasper had to allow about 3 months of the lake fishing for the local people, charged in local currency but at the equivalent rate to the US dollar. Even so, Osprey Safaris would net around half a million USD a year, and local dollars were useful for local purchases. Jasper was entitled to keep half of all USD earnings, so it was a nice little business.


  




  

    
Chapter 2




    
Pre 1973




    
Jasper Jackson, predictably, ‘JJ’, was one of a pair of twins born in 1948 to Marika and Frank Jackson in the resort town of Umhlanga Rocks, several miles north of Durban on the Indian Ocean coast of South Africa. His sister Jade was actually first born, so Jasper did brag he had an elder sister. Their mother, Marika, was from a well-known Natal sugar plantation family, the Jouberts, but had studied gemology and had a thriving jewellery business, hence the names of the twins. Father Frank was a Scottish anthropologist who had been studying the Zulu culture when he met Marika. He was a bit of a dreamer but had become something of an authority on the Bantu people’s southwards migrations. He had been invited by the Commonwealth Crown Office to document and research the tribal cultures of the peoples that would be displaced by the proposed building of the Kariba Dam, the 1953 idea which became a reality with the formation of the Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland. So, in 1953, the Jackson family moved into a large rangy house on Churchill Avenue in Salisbury, South Rhodesia, opposite the grounds of the University of Rhodesia, which was Frank’s base. Jade went to the Dominican Convent school as a day pupil, whilst Jasper was enrolled as a day pupil in St George’s College. This suited Mum, as she had started a small jewellery factory from one of the spare rooms in the house and was soon in great demand from local jewellers. Jade finished her education at the convent and studied medicine, learning a lot about trauma medicine and qualifying as a doctor by 1973. She was soon married to a visiting English medical lecturer and left for Scotland with him when his year was done. Jasper had only got into the Jesuit run St. George’s because Dad had been from a Catholic family, though he was a non-practising Christian, and St. George’s judged the young Jasper to be a very bright boy. He was a big boy for his age and the staff saw him as a future national rugby wing forward and possibly a fast bowler. Jasper proved to be bright and very good at sports, especially rugby, and went on to study his father’s subject, anthropology, then chose a combined botany/zoology course and graduated in 1971. He spent a lot of time with his father during his holidays up in Kariba and the Zambezi valley and became fairly proficient at bushcraft and animal tracking. As he was eligible for army service, and by now the ‘Chimurenga’ or black war of Independence was in full swing, he was drafted into psychological operations and intelligence. During this time Jasper got to know Andre Rabie, the first regular tracking instructor of the Selous Scouts. He was so impressed with young Jasper that he suggested to his colleagues that they had a natural on their hands regarding bushcraft. The main training base for this elite force was about an hour from Kariba, in an area that was restricted but whose general topography Jasper already knew through his trips with his Dad. At the Wafa Wafa camp, Jasper became part of an intake of 130 men from various army units both black and white. The Scouts were an integrated unit with a ratio of roughly 2 black scouts to 1 white. They were encouraged to speak in either Shona or Ndebele. JJ had been pretty much fluent in Shona since the age eight, and also had gained a useful vocabulary of the two toed Tonga people who were indigenous to the Kariba and Zambezi valley, so that was a bit of a doddle. The identification of plants, trees and animal spoor also came easily to him, though the discomfort of what amounted to extreme camping without any equipment or hygiene was harder, but not overbearing. Things began to get really tough when the dehumanising began; firstly, with no rations except water, and then made to forage for rats, snakes, and baboon meat. Some 30% to 40% left the training at this, but JJ became inured to it. He even managed to drink water from carcasses and strain the stomach contents, learn to eat rotting meat, grasshoppers, lizards – literally anything to survive. By now the original intake of 130 men had been reduced to 30 odd, and still the pain was heaped on. In their starved condition the men still had to do marches of 20 miles in under 3 hours, made increasingly difficult by having to carry a sand bag for the last 7 miles; and all this in hot, humid conditions. Only those who were mentally strong could survive this treatment, and by the last few days only 21 recruits remained. There were more lessons: making fires without matches, using string made from bark to make snares, bush medicines such as marula as anti-histamines; everything designed so that they could survive alone in the bush because they had developed second nature within any environment. The much vaunted test of being dropped off in the bush, with a gun, 20 rounds, a match, and a raw egg, amongst lions, hippos and elephants, and having to emerge the next morning for inspection with a hardboiled egg, was almost a pleasure. JJ had survived the intake, being one of only twelve to do so. He was maybe 30 pounds lighter and a very lean and much meaner machine, ready to take his role as a tracker. At six feet two inches and 190 lbs weight, well bronzed by the sun, he was a handsome man, but his ever-present smile was now much more thoughtful. He had been quite explosive in his school days, but clearly the environment of war and death had tended to mute his quick tongue. Jasper was seconded to the Kariba eastern basin and the Zambezi valley from Chirundu to Kanyemba, a border town where Zambia, Mozambique, and Rhodesia meet. He, together with Nkomba, with whom he had struck up a close, life-long friendship during training, would spend weeks in the bush hunting down terrorist spoor and calling in the infantry or air force for strikes against any infiltrating groups they considered too big to deal with themselves. As the war went on and became more intense, Jasper became hardened – not so much with the killing of what after all was an enemy who was equally likely to kill him, but with the demonising and cruelty these groups subjected their own people to. While he had been and still was proud of the Selous’s badge, the Osprey, he could no longer wear it openly, since he had to maintain as much anonymity as possible as to what his role was in the bush war.



  




  

    
Chapter 3




    
Pre Independence Times




    
The bush war had escalated by 1975, and Jasper was either in the Zambezi valley with his partner Nkomba for their 6-week plus tours or recovering for a month, off-duty, so to speak. He still kept a room in his parents’ house in Churchill Avenue, which was now his. Frank and Marika had returned to Durban in 1965; Frank then completed his various theses the Zambesi Valley’s tribes. The Federation of Rhodesia and Nyasaland had breathed its last in 1963, with what became Zambia and Malawi going their own ways, followed by the Unilateral Declaration of Independence in Salisbury 11th November 1965 which created Rhodesia. At that time Frank Jackson’s contract was modified, in that the Colonial Office had to cut ties with the UDI state. By then, Frank had a mountain of collected information and he and Marika left Salisbury, returning to the La Lucia home and being installed as a professor in anthropology at the University of Natal. Jasper stayed and the title of the rambling mansion was transferred to him. He managed to let out the 6 remaining bedrooms to students to keep the house going. His mother also left him the ownership of the Jewellery Creations business and its assets. This business pretty much became dormant, but he managed to sell off the stock, giving himself a nice nest egg.





    
It was Friday night and he was with a couple of old school friends, Tom and Tony, in the Park Lane hotel bar. The plan was to down a few beers, move on to have piri-piri chicken at the Coimbra, and then hit the Archipelago nightclub in Baker Avenue. Tom West was from his parent’s farm, not far from Salisbury out on the Old Mazoe Road, and was spared the draft because he was a food producer; instead he had to serve in the police divisions. He was an Inspector in the Intelligence division and was involved mostly in co-ordinating potential contact risks amongst farm workers in the north west sector of Salisbury. Similarly, Tony Chapman, possibly because of being a lawyer, had gone into psych-ops with the police, working out of Karoi, just south of the Kariba/ Zambezi valley area where Jasper himself operated. Their paths crossed occasionally, when JJ was either on his way in and needed the latest information as to the terrorist infiltration or as he ended his tour, being debriefed in Karoi. The boys were joined by another friend, George Smith, who had recently qualified as a doctor, and was about to start as a field surgeon with the RLI on the eastern border with Mozambique. The bar was now getting into full swing with ‘squaddies’, and sensing the usual Friday night brawl amongst the army men home for R&R was now imminent, the boys left and drove the short distance along Jamieson Avenue, turning right up 7th Street and then left into Selous Avenue to the Coimbra. As always, they sat out in the garden, having starters of Beira prawns before the famous main event of piri-piri chicken. More Castle and Lion beers were needed to mollify palettes and throats after the fiery piri-piri sauce. Well-fortified, Tom, Tony, George, and JJ were now ready for the Archipelago nightclub and its promise of vast female availability which had arisen as a result of the war. This apparent imbalance of ladies to men was not due to any loss of men in combat, but because of the number of men out in the field. Given that the whites were around 4% of the total population, with the menfolk pretty much away for 6 months, it was hardly surprising to find a very high divorce rate. It was great odds for a good night out if you were one of the relatively few men in town. By midnight, maybe slightly afterwards, all the boys were with their favoured belles for the night, so Tom used his rank and influence and 4 constables were delegated to drive the boys four vehicles home to Churchill Avenue for the party to continue. It was empty; being the weekend, JJ’s student lodgers were off home for a long weekend and to get fed properly. JJ kept a full time domestic, Rarios, to at least keep the house clean and the garden tidy. He was available to cook up some breakfast later on, but tonight he was sent back to bed until the morning proper.





    
When JJ woke, his partner had already left, along with Tony’s, but had left him a note with her phone number. He and Tony languished in the pool, nurturing a babelas (hangover), and both realised they would probably meet in Karoi on Monday, as both were to begin a tour in their respective roles for the security services. As Rarios brought breakfast and much needed tea, they sat on the pool patio under the thatched cover, which seemed to have become home to a bat. Tony told JJ that there had been a recent spike in activity amongst the native TTL’s around Karoi. The Tribal Trust Lands were where the terrorists who crossed the Zambezi from Zambia, headed for. There they tried to hide and sustain themselves before moving closer to the nation’s capital, mostly by terrorising the local natives in whose name they claimed to operate. Largely they would choose soft targets, such as the more outlying farms. This was not as easy as it may seem as first: the large black workforce resided in villages on the farm with a clinic and a school for the children, and the workers were not keen to lose their employment security and meal ticket. Secondly, the farm “agri-alert” system operated very well; farmers were well-armed and their neighbours could be on site within minutes. Tony reckoned that JJ would have an active time on this tour, as it was clear more infiltrations were taking place. He had heard the team that was in the Mana area had been shot up, with one seriously wounded before his partner managed to return fire and call in support. JJ would no doubt be briefed together with Nkomba on Sunday when he arrived at camp, RLI (Rhodesian Light Infantry) South Salisbury. They would then be further briefed in Karoi as to the latest info on sightings and activities. JJ could not discuss anything about where and when he would be deployed, partly because he was not sure himself and mostly because the fewer people that knew, the safer it was. Tony was not offended. After lunch, the guests left to their respective homes and JJ turned to preparing himself to leave first thing Sunday to the pickup point at Kingsway.





    
Arriving at the RLI depot before 0800 hours, he went to his section’s gym for a session of karate, with an instructor who told him he was slipping and not worthy of his dan status, then on to the armoury where he handed in his personal weapon, a .44 Magnum Special, for an AK 47 assault rifle, the most likely terrorist weapon, a CZ 75 pistol chambered for 9mm ammunition, and a huge 10 inch bowie knife, to which he added a crossbow with about 20 bolts. The rest of his rucksack was filled with a couple of claymore mines. JJ test fired his weapons and cleaned them thoroughly before going to the canteen for lunch. In the briefing room he met up with Nkomba and was brought up to date with Nkomba’s family news. They then double checked each other’s weapons; Nkomba used the same AK 47 and the CZ 75 pistol, but instead of the crossbow he carried an SVD sniper rifle. Despite the racism, however benevolent, that existed in Rhodesia, none was allowed or tolerated in the Selous Scouts between black scouts and white scouts. The need to trust each other in their activities was absolute, so whilst they were obviously aware of differences in colour and culture, neither considered himself or the other inferior. They were “boets” or brothers. The proud motto of these elite was simple, ‘Pamwe Chete’ – Together Only. They would bunk together tonight before being helicoptered up to the police compound in Karoi. There would be a final briefing as to the latest sightings or known activity before being dropped off at point X-ray Charlie 483.





    
Jasper turned to Nkomba and said, “Henry, best we pray to Nyaminyami for his protection.” Nkomba nodded.



  




  

    
Chapter 4




    
1982 Osprey and Sophie




    
Jasper woke in the early light, having slept on the veranda, to what he called a heavy dawn. He heard that particular cry that some say is the call of Africa, the fish eagle. It was a handsome raptor with its distinct white head and neck and an absolute joy to watch as it would swoop down from the sky and seemingly just pick a fish out of the water before flapping its wings to gain height, levelling out to find a suitable perch to eat its spoils. It was October, the first of the two ‘suicide’ months when the humidity got a whole lot worse before the annual rains. Looking to the north, towards Zambia, he could see a few thunderheads building, so there well could be an odd downpour later, though he thought that unlikely. He jumped into the pool and did a few lengths before getting out. Despite the humidity he was almost dry by the time he walked the few yards back to the villa, and then sweaty again. It must be 30°C already. Apparently, the suicide rate in Zimbabwe trebled in October and November; not surprisingly it would coincide with the brutal weather before the rains came. Kariba had high humidity for most of the year, though it was easier May through to August.





    
Francis came through excitedly, almost shouting, “Boss, you must come to the radio!”





    
JJ said, “Calm down, what’s the story?”





    
Francis said it was the airport calling to say that Sophie was en route from Joburg and would be catching the 1000 hrs Harare plane to Kariba. JJ felt his heart booming dammit, he was excited like a schoolboy and thankful he could feel like this. He was at peace with himself, but it was a fragile peace, and he had fought long and hard to keep his demons from pre-independence at bay. Sophie had been a saviour for him, on hand for those nightmares, helping him to control the demons and find his emotions again.





    ***




    
In 1980, Jasper had to make a decision as to where he would go; whether he would go back to an academic life, joining his parents down in Durban, or make a life in a new nation. The war was lost, and the Nationalists had prevailed, gaining Independence for Zimbabwe on 18th April 1980. Rhodesia was gone. He had escaped any serious physical injuries during the war, only getting a couple of minor flesh wounds, but once he came out of the army, he began to have occasional nightmares, demons in his dreams, disturbing periods when he would remember the senseless brutality of war. Officially, he was army and all records of Selous Scouts were suddenly ‘lost’ to prevent retribution, but nevertheless several of the well-known majors/colonels were advised to leave the new country. Jasper had not chosen the hierarchical route, despite having it offered; he had chosen to stay in the bush, which was his first love. He had been involved in Operation Eland, which was a pre-emptive raid on a military camp in Mozambique in 1976, but he then remained in the Kariba/Zambezi valley operational areas because of the increasing incursion rate of terrorists. He missed, therefore, the Mozambique raids on Chimoio and Tembue camps, but was involved in the aftermath of both Air Rhodesia Viscounts being shot down shortly after take-off from Kariba in 1978. Though clearly affected by the civilian losses and the mass killings of Operation Eland, Jasper could justify his part as a war between armies. What he could not rationalize was the terrorists’ brutality to very people they claimed to be fighting for. The vision of some of the injuries sustained and butchery of overwhelmingly black non-combatants by the terrorists, the grief of these families, seemed to stay with him and torture his sense of fair play. He refused to stomach the bayonetting of babies or their dead bodies being filled with explosives to be carried into towns.





    
In the euphoria at Independence – or was it relief? – experienced by both black and white citizens, there was a genuine attempt to make the new nation of Zimbabwe work. One of his father’s old friends, John H., in the Agricultural Extension Service suggested he might like to join the National Parks as a game ranger. Though tempted, when he relayed this to his mother, she raised the idea of running a safari business. He eventually went to his bank with a plan, but the astute bank manager referred him to a man who was both a jeweller and an influential manager at the Reserve Bank. This gentleman, Toby B., was very supportive and saw a safari business as an excellent option to bring in foreign currency. So, having liquidated his quite considerable assets, and with the help of Toby B., John H., and his local bank manager, Jasper ended up as the proud owner of a new safari business and the tenant of a 240 acre lot on the lake shore in Charara game reserve. 1981 was all about getting buildings erected, facilities prepared, and establishing concessions. He had bought the Osprey in South Africa, or rather, his mother bought it for him. It was a 40 foot cruiser powered by twin Thornycroft Cummins diesel engines, luxuriously appointed with 2 separate cabins with double berths, a lounge/dinette area, twin heads, a holding tank, heating, battery chargers, an inverter, shore power, hot and cold water, a separate shower, a galley with a fridge, freezer and microwave, a twin helm with full instrumentation, a fish finder, radar, an echo sounder, a brand new sat nav, vhf, and autopilot. There was a small river boat with a 60hp Mercury motor which was tender to the cruiser. He managed to get a couple of refurbished ex-army Land Rovers locally, plus a second hand Toyota Cruiser and a Toyota 4WD bakkie, both from South Africa. Having got the villa and three rondavels built, Osprey Safaris was born, taking up to 6 guests on 5 day fishing safaris on the lake. Each safari was accompanied by a trip around Kariba town, the dam wall and the chapel built by the Italians during the construction of the dam. By the end of 1981, Jasper was in business, with a full schedule.





    
He sometimes went to one of the hotels, the Caribbea Bay at Kariba, to meet some drinking buddies. It was here that he met Sophie, an emergency medicine nurse, who was on holiday from New Zealand. She had finished a correspondence business management course and stayed on. She was taken on initially as a receptionist who helped to manage the bars and restaurant. She was a pretty girl, brunette with a ponytail, about five feet two inches tall, with a lively and bubbly nature. Sophie was more than capable of fending off the usual blunt attentions characteristic of young men away from home without making them feel spurned, but pity help you if she heard you refer to her as a ‘crow’, an unfortunate epithet, not necessarily derogatory, but sometimes used by the Rhodie male. They met one evening when she was trying to calm down an irate, slightly drunk guest who was complaining that his air conditioner was squeaking, making it impossible to sleep. It was far too hot to try to sleep without it. Despite the assurances Sophie was trying to give him that she would get the engineer to come and have a look, the guest was having none of it.





    
Jasper had a good idea what the problem might be, having experienced it several times himself, so he went over and said, “Good evening, I am an on-call engineer, what seems to be the problem?”





    
Sophie looked at him curiously, took onboard his wink and began to explain. The guest immediately butted in, “At last, someone local who will understand me, the bloody air-con is squeaking.”





    
Jasper quickly asked, “Is this a regular or intermittent squeak, sir?”





    
“It’s bloody both, going on and on then it stops for a minute, then starts all over again.”





    
Jasper asked if he could have the guest’s key and a couple of minutes, to which the guest simply said “Be my guest.” He allowed himself to be steered to a chair and accepted a cold beer. Jasper asked Sophie under his breath for a can of fly-spray, and off he went. He was back in five minutes, pronounced the problem solved and invited the guest to come and check. All was well, and when he came back to reception, Sophie asked politely if he had killed the guest and hoped he had disposed of the body.





    
Jasper laughed for the first time in a while and with a smile said, “Very often cicadas will come into rooms and hide below the freestanding air-con units. Unfortunately, they don’t move out easily and you have to spray under and around the unit.”





    
“Well,” she said, “thank you for your help, I owe you one.”





    
Very quickly Jasper said, “Only a pleasure, can I take you out for some dinner?”





    
He had already been struck by the arrow, and Sophie, sensing he was no fly by night, surprisingly for her, agreed and said, “I’m off in 15 minutes. I’ll meet you here in half an hour.”





    The next 30 minutes were hellish for Jasper. He was actually more nervous than he had ever been on ops, thinking she was only being nice to him and she wouldn’t show up. Then suddenly she was there, smiling radiantly like an angel.




    
“Right I’m ready, where to in this one-horse town?”





    
She linked her arm with his and off they went to the car park and got into his cruiser with its Osprey logo. There were not many options in Kariba, so he decided to go over to the Lake View, which had a decent restaurant. As they were walking from the car park into the hotel, both realised they did not know each other’s names.





    
Sophie nearly embarrassed him unknowingly as she jokingly said, “What’s your name, because I should not be out for dinner with you let alone kiss you if we are not introduced? My name is Sophie Mitchieson from Auckland, North Island, Aotearoa, that’s New Zealand to you.”





    
He shot back “’The Land of the Long White Cloud.’ My name is Jasper Jackson of …” he thought for a moment, “… Southern Africa.”





    
She said, “Aren’t you the mystery man, but I shall beguile you,” in a mock German voice. They both laughed and went into the restaurant. They probably fell in love with each other in the next hour, and she had told him all about herself and noticed that, whilst he talked freely about his parents, school and his baby Osprey Safaris, he spoke little about his army days. She didn‘t mind; she sensed there were some demons there and he would tell her in time.





    
As they left, she took his arm, cuddled into him and said, “Take me home.” He took her back to the Caribbea, where he presumed she would have accommodation, but as he turned in to the hotel, she said, “No, silly, I want to see your home.”





    
He pulled up sharply and looked at her. “It’s dark, so you won’t see anything, and anyway what about work in the morning?” He knew he was dithering, but he didn’t want to spoil the very new relationship; his mind was made up, something like full speed ahead and damn the torpedoes. He banged the Land Cruiser in reverse and then pulled out, turning for home.





    
She laughed and said, “I have a day off tomorrow anyway.”





    
On arrival, he started the generator, then switched on the lights and pulled a good South African wine out of the cooler and sat on the veranda with Sophie. They toasted each other and gazed out over the lake looking at the kapenta fishing boats and their lamps. Francis appeared out of nowhere, wanting to know if he was needed, but was firmly sent back to bed. The wine was nearly finished, though neither of them was feeling the alcohol, and without a word they went to Jasper’s bedroom. They came together quite naturally and made passionate uninhibited love to each other, as if they were old lovers. They awakened passions in each other they never knew they had. Afterwards they lay exhausted and both fell into a wonderful sleep; for Jasper, his first in a long time without his demons. And that was that; Sophie had moved in and simply stayed, quickly winning over Francis and his family, and was immediately in charge of the meeting and greeting, bookings, and supplies. She also turned out to be a quick learner as to the flora and fauna and was very skilled at finding the best area for tigerfish as the year moved on, wearing its various cloaks. She took and passed her boat captaincy exams, becoming an extremely skilful handler of the boat.





    ***




    Jasper was at the airport early and watched the plane come in. Sophie came down the steps, waving to him and running across the tarmac to literally jump into his arms, showering him with kisses. As he came up for air, he managed to say he had deeply missed her and was grateful and delighted to have her back, even though she was supposed to be another week away. As they waited for her bags to get to the baggage shed, she confessed she loved seeing Auckland, her parents, and her old friends, but after nearly three weeks she knew she had to get back to Jasper. The bags came and the porter loaded them into the back of the bakkie, and they set off back to Osprey.




    
On the way she told him she had she had spoken with friends in the travel business in Auckland, and they were keen to advertise on their behalf. He smiled and thought, we are busy enough anyway, but that was Sophie, always looking for ways to expand the business. As they entered the Osprey Compound, she saw the pleasure in his eyes as he watched two bateleur eagles playing chicken. The strikingly colourful raptors, with their distinct tail shapes, would climb to a fair height and then lock talons, spinning whilst falling back to earth, seemingly oblivious to the up-rushing ground before disengaging just in time. Francis and his wife were on hand to greet her and she quickly dug in her bags for the gifts she had bought for them.





    
After lunch Sophie disappeared into the office and groaned, seeing that very little filing had been done, though the blackboard did at least have bookings chalked in for both the canoe and the Osprey safaris, linked to the arrival times at the airport of guests. It took an hour to match up the info on the board with the little cards she had specially designed for the purpose. There was a few thousand ZWD and a few US dollars in the safe waiting to be banked and credited, which was unusual as mostly the safaris were paid for in advance by international bank transfers. Still, all in all the office was in reasonable shape. She then got Jasper and did an inventory check, noting that they would need to re-stock the freezers with food for the guests, and that the imported wines were fine but they would need beers and some soft drinks and mixers shortly. Sophie radioed through orders to their various suppliers; most were in Kariba, but the beers meant contacting Delta in Harare for the Castle and Lion beers, as well as the mixers and soft drinks. Spirits came from African Distillers at Stapleford, just outside Harare on the Churundu/Kariba road. Due to the tight foreign currency restrictions, most spirits in Zimbabwe were based on the local white spirit distilled from sugar known as cane spirit. Even whisky was ‘adulterated’ in that it was imported as 120 proof rebate and diluted with cane spirit and water down to 70 proof. It was now whiskey. The locals had long since found out the end product could be improved vastly by taking 2 measures out of the bottle and replacing it with sherry. You could at least pretend it was Scotch; it was actually drinkable. After two or three tots no-one really cared. Fortunately, Jasper could use his half of retained forex to import wine and whisky, or anything else, so Joburg’s discount liquor stores would rail orders to Harare, which then would be delivered via Delta for final delivery to Osprey.





    
In 1982, largely due to Sophie’s persistence, she pushed Osprey into the wider business of canoeing down the Zambezi to Mana Pools, which at first was very much full participation by guests, paddling down, carrying all their needs with them, and basic camping on the river banks. Jasper handled these trips whilst Sophie oversaw the fishing safaris. It was not long until they both realised that the canoeing safari was really only for the young adventurers, usually backpackers, so it was a limited market at the lower end of the chargeable scale. As they understood this, it became clear they should change this limited market for another for which they could charge top dollar. They would start a high-class safari, using motorised canoes to ease the paddling, and provide quality mobile camps with proper toilets, albeit chemical, and showers with good catering. All the guests would have to do was slightly exert themselves in the canoes if they wished, take photographs, fish a little, and generally learn about their environment or simply drink in the magnificence of the ambiance where life battled with nature every day. However, this would also necessitate having to find another guide, a tracker who could look after the guests, who may not always recognise the dangers of the bush. They had been lucky to find Henry, whose qualities as a tracker and bush fundi were without question, as Jasper well knew from their many ops together.



  




  

    
Chapter 5




    
Changing Lives, early Eighties




    
The problem was how to find one black man amongst an estimated 8 million – and one who would have had an incentive to keep his background in the war and tribal culture concealed. Certainly, amongst the remaining white population, which had fallen from its peak of nearly 300,000 in 1975 to an estimated 180,000 with Independence, most people knew of each other or had common acquaintances, so there was a lively ‘gossip’ line established throughout the country. At Sophie’s urging, Jasper began to track down other ex-Selous Scouts. This was not easy as most, like Jasper himself, did not advertise themselves as having been elite troops. The same anonymity had been applied to the black Selous Scouts, for not only had they had fought for the defeated side, but Henry was also of the minority tribe. Jasper was not getting anywhere and began to talk a little of his past to Sophie. She immediately understood and assumed that his service in the Scouts had damaged him, but it was late into the night before she realised that it was the death of non-combatants at the hands of their so called brothers that inflamed her man’s demons. She did have one bright idea though. It was common knowledge that most ‘unwanted’ white ex-army men took the hint and went to South Africa, so she suggested that maybe Jasper’s mum might know someone in S.A. As it happened, Marika, through her family, did know of some ex-Rhodies who were reputed to have left as soon as it was definite that Black Independence would prevail, and there were allegedly some Scouts amongst them. Eventually Marika got a name of a black ex-officer from the scouts, who had to flee and had set up a sort of support agency for black ex-Scouts in Johannesburg.





    
Anticipating that, at some point, the authorities in Zimbabwe would cut off legal holding of multiple passports, Jasper had pushed ahead using his connections to change his South African passport for a Zimbabwe passport, though he was entitled to British and South African documents as well. His reasoning was that if he was to stay in Zimbabwe, he would be better off having that country’s passport and citizenship for business purposes, especially the use of foreign currency. He would always have the fall-back position of being entitled to a South African passport by birth and a British one through his father. Indeed, he already held both anyway, though both were unused and actually kept in South Africa with his parents. Strangely, he first found that a Greek friend was able to get him an identity disc as a favour. Then, through a rare local client on a fishing safari who happened to ‘know’ another friend who knew someone in the citizenship office, Jasper duly took the oath of citizenship in the capital, which by now had changed its name from Salisbury to Harare. It was still known as Bambazonke by the people of Bulawayo, who thought it best described the attitudes of greedy ‘take it all’ Salisbury peoples. Bulawayo had been the first and main city in the days of Cecil John Rhodes, and the residents of Bulawayo still thought they were the nation’s ‘main men’. Unfortunately, even among the black population, the Ndebele did not have a favourable view of the dominant tribe, the Shona, and consequently, Bulawayo had to suck the hind tit. Having citizenship, Jasper put the old boys’ network to further use and fast tracked a Zimbabwean passport, having parted with a little cash in the process. Once he had got this, he and Sophie went to the capital and Liquenda House in Baker Street, which was the headquarters of immigration, to extend Sophie’s work permit for another 2 years, Osprey becoming her guarantor. This was relatively easy because she was a qualified nurse in New Zealand, and it was accepted by the immigration that this was a good thing in the safari business, particularly with the Department of Wildlife and Tourism’s recommendation.





    
This whole exercise however became irrelevant when, outside the lobby of Liquenda House, Jasper, taken by the more impulsive nature of his youth, blurted out, “Listen, since you are going to stay, why don’t we make it official?”





    
Sophie looked at him, and for a moment he thought the worst, before she said, “Jasper Jackson, if that is a proposal, I would have said yes that first night, but I knew you had to be sure yourself and ready. Now I believe you are, and in spite of your extremely romantic proposal, of course I’ll accept, kind sir. It saves me having to ask.”





    
He whooped with joy, picked her up, kissed her and swung her round and round, saying, “If you had asked that night, I would have said yes!”





    
They came back to earth realizing they had attracted an audience, who were clapping, having guessed what had transpired. Jasper knew he was blushing, but nevertheless bowed to the group and holding Sophie by the hand as if he was presenting her, announced, “Ladies and gentlemen, the future Mrs Jackson.”





    
And that was that. He took her immediately along to Tony Chapman’s offices in Third Street, and as luck would have it Tony was free, so he introduced Sophie, told Tony to get a quick wedding arranged, made the necessary changes to his will, and made Sophie an equal partner in Osprey. The boat was round at Kariba harbour undergoing its annual refit for the next two weeks, so a quick call was made to Francis to tell him they would not be back until next week. Tony was still a bachelor with a live-in girlfriend, and insisted Sophie and Jasper stayed with him and Chrissie in their home in Mount Pleasant. Chrissie came to the office and took the lovebirds home whilst Tony called in a few favours and managed to get a licence to marry in 3 days’ time.





    
When he got home and said that Friday would be the earliest, Chrissie swung into gear, said, “We’ll make a plan.” Sophie would need to shop for outfits tomorrow, and Chrissie rang George at home to see if he could do the necessary blood test first thing, because Jasper would need to fly back up to Kariba tomorrow, collect some things for Sophie and himself, including birth certificates, his citizenship documents and his passport. They already had Sophie’s, because of their earlier visit to the Department of Immigration. Since it was high time his parents met Sophie, he would have to get a visa from the South African Trade Mission just off Second Street, as he would use his Zimbabwean passport. It also would let him go and meet the ex-Selous Scout officer in Joburg without any questions regarding his visit to the R.S.A. Officially, Zimbabwe and the R.S.A were unhappy neighbours, with a lot of anti-R.S.A rhetoric in Zimbabwe, but between being landlocked and Mozambique in its own civil war, Zimbabwe had no option but to trade both directly and indirectly with the ‘enemy’. The flights, first to Durban on Sunday, then up to Joburg and back to Harare before Friday evening, had also to be booked, but Tony’s office would be able to do all the grunt work. They could be back to Kariba on the Saturday. He would have to go to New Zealand to see her parents, but that would have to be later. Sophie made it a condition that when in New Zealand, they must sort of renew their vows so that her parents would accept missing their daughter’s marriage. Fair play!





    ***




    
Tony’s people at the office had organised all the arrangements for the wedding and the flights. Chrissie sorted Sophie out, the ‘blushing bride’ in the smartest peach suit that Barbours could provide, plus all the accessories needed, including a hat with a feather. In front of the registrar, Jasper and Sophie exchanged the rings bought that day and became Mr and Mrs Jackson, sealed with a kiss and duly witnessed by Tony and Chrissie. Friday night was spent in the very best accommodation Harare could offer, namely the Meikles Hotel, and its Bagatelle Restaurant. Tony and Chrissie, Tom, and even George made it, with their partners and another of their friends who happened to be down from Zambia, Jonty Westhuizen and his wife Paddy, who had both mirrored Jasper and his twin, Jade, in being schooled in the Convent and St. George’s, though in different years. Eventually Jonty took over the family farm in what had been Northern Rhodesia now Zambia. Funnily enough, Jonty’s father had once been ‘asked to leave’ the Meikles, when he was in a group of wild men in from the country who all brought their mules into the lobby and organised races jumping over the reception area’s couches and tables, whilst people were taking afternoon tea. This had not been considered proper behaviour, especially in the 30s. There was much partying, with Sophie the centre of attention from the prying gang. They kept the resident pianist going with requests for old tunes, and the rest of the diners joined in and partied with them. If it had been a quiet wedding, the reception turned out to be a grand affair, as more and more people joined in completely spontaneously. A kitty was started and the party continued well into the early hours, long past when the original group left for home, Jasper and Sophie to their room in the hotel.





    
Saturday morning was spent walking along by the flower sellers under the jacaranda trees on the bottom side of Cecil Square, and along to First Street, along Jamieson and crossing over to find the park behind the Monomatapa hotel. They had a light lunch in Sherol’s and strolled leisurely, hand in hand, back to the Meikles, where they found Jonty and Paddy waiting for them. They were also staying the night at Meikles before driving back to Zambia on Sunday. Jonty had organised a table at Escargot, the exclusive restaurant in the Courteney Hotel, and insisted that Jasper and Sophie must join him and Paddy in the evening. Jasper and Sophie were driven round by Jonty and Paddy and they were shown to a secluded corner table. Jonty was obviously well known in the restaurant and he was offered prawns from Beira, certainly not on the menu, and Kingklip, a prized sea-fish and usually unavailable outside of South Africa.





    
Their flight was took off at 1105. The plane was half full and would fly across Mozambique until it reached the Indian Ocean, turn right and fly down the coastline to Durban and its Louis Botha airport. Over Mozambique they hit turbulence, and though they were warned to sit and belt up, there were many hijinks, trying to keep a drink in its glass, having to raise arms to the fullest, such was the scale of sudden drops in altitude. It lasted for about ten minutes, and the rest of the flight was smooth enough. As they were following the coastline and had begun their descent, the captain reported that there were whales down below, and despite their height it was possible to distinguish their shapes. A few minutes later Jasper pointed out the window to La Lucia where his parents lived. Then they went past the city and airport did a ‘u-ee’ over Amanzimtoti, coming into Durban’s single runway from the south.





    
Jasper and Sophie went through Immigration and Customs and were met by Marika and Frank. They instantly took to Sophie, having really only spoken on the phone previously, though they were well aware of their son’s relationship. Now all was in order and they could look forward to having grandchildren. Frank led them outside, where their driver/gardener was waiting with the Merc, and they soon headed north up the M4 coastal road, over the Umgeni River, past the Mangrove Reserve and into La Lucia and the family plot. It was several acres, dominated by a sprawling hacienda-type house, which had a superb view of the ocean. Marika’s parents had bought the plot and house many years ago, and it was their wedding present to Marika. Frank had become very much the absent-minded professor type, being totally wrapped up in his books, and wanted to quiz Jasper on some of the cultural rituals of the Zambezi valley, so it was some time after dinner before Jasper was able to talk to his mother about what she had found out about the Selous support group.
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